NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE PLANNING AND URBAN FORM SPC
TO BE HELD IN THE BY REMOTE VIDEO CONFERENCING VIA - ZOOM
ON TUESDAY 3 MAY 2022 AT 3.30 PM

WEBCASTING NOTICE
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018,
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained
in accordance with the legislation.
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100.

AGENDA
TUESDAY 3 MAY 2022
PAGE
1

Minutes of Meeting 22nd February

2

Matters arising

2-3

3

Community Monuments Fund Update

4-8

4

Housing Task Force

9 - 13

5

Inchicore / Retail Strategy

14 - 21

6

A.O.B.

7

Date of Next Meeting
Monday 27th June

MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND URBAN FORM SPC MEETING
HELD ON TUESDAY 22ND FEBRUARY 2022

Minutes of Meeting 9th December

1.

Minutes: Agreed
2.

Matters arising


Community Monuments Fund
Report to be given to May SPC on projects which are being considered for 2022.

 City Edge
Chief Executives Report on submissions was circulated to the Sectoral Members
after the South County Dublin meeting on the 13th December.

3.



Derelict Sites
Update report on derelict sites to go to each Area Committee twice a year.



Update on the preparation of the New Development Plan
Consultation period ended on the 14th February with more than 3,500 submissions
received.

15 Minute City
Report circulated prior to meeting. John O’Hara, Dublin City Planning Officer gave a brief
presentation and answered question raised by the Members.
The ‘15 minute City’ concept envisages that within 15 minutes on foot or bike from where
they live, people should have the ability to access most of their daily needs, supported by
diverse housing options and access to: safe cycle routes and local public transport, local
health facilities, parks, shops, and other local infrastructure.
Presentation Noted.

4. New Large-scale Residential Developments (LRD) Process
Report circulated prior to meeting. Mary Conway, Deputy City Planner went through the
report and answered questions.
Key points:
1
Page 2

 Existing SHD process will run towards the end of the year
 Very challenging time for next year with trying to introduce new system.
 Elected Members will be e-mailed/ aware of LRD applications as they come in.
 Advantage is that new applications will be coming into the Planning Dept.
Agreed: Mary to do up briefing document for the Members, this to be circulated to full
Council.
Report Noted.
5. A.O.B.
Cllr. Nicoullaud enquired as to when Dublin City Council would reply to Planning
Regulator’s submissions?
The City Planning Officer replied, that the Chief Executives Report which will be produced
on the 29th of April, will respond to the Planning Regulator’s submissions.
Cllr McAdam to e-mail the Members regarding proposed time and date of meetings for
2022.
6. Date of next meeting:
3rd May 2022

Councillor Ray McAdam
Chairperson
Tuesday 22nd February
Attendance:
Members:
Ray McAdam (Chairperson)
Lord Mayor Alison Gilliland
John Lyons
Anthony Connaghan

Members:
Patricia Roe
Declan Meenagh
Dearbháil Butler
Tom Brabazon

Members:
Odran Reid
Fergus Sharpe
Sophie Nicoullaud
Jonny McKenna

Officers:
Richard Shakespeare
Paul Clegg
Máire Igoe

Officers:
John O’Hara
Mary Conway
Deirdre Scully

Officers:
Aileen Mac Dermott
Jonathan Fallon

Apologies:
Anna Devlin
Robbie Sinnott
Daithí De Róiste

2
Page 3

An Roinn Pleanála agus Forbartha Maoine
Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8
Planning and Property Development Department
Block 4, Floor 3, Civic Offices, Wood Quay, D8

Planning and Urban Form
Strategic Policy Committee – May 2022
Community Monuments Fund Update
No. 3 on the Agenda

Dublin City Council Planning and Urban Form SPC
Community Monuments Fund Update
Introduction
The Community Monuments Fund was established by the Department of Housing, Local Government
and Heritage in 2020 to provide investment in Ireland’s archaeological heritage. Part of this funding is
prioritised for local authorities, private owners and custodians and community groups for the care,
conservation, maintenance, protection and promotion of archaeological monuments and the
provision of measures to ensure safe access during the Covid-19 pandemic. The core aims of this Fund
are the conservation, maintenance, protection and presentation of archaeological monuments.

2021 Applications
A fund of €4.2m was allocated by the Government of Ireland for the Community Monuments Fund in
2021, nationally. Ten applications were made for projects in Dublin City and all ten were successful in
receiving funding. The allocation awarded to Dublin City was €339,937 in total, €43,308 of which was
awarded to a private owner (Drimnagh Castle). All ten projects were successfully completed by the
applicants and assessed by the Dublin City Council Archaeology Conservation and Heritage Section of
the Dublin City Council Planning and Property Development Department by the Department’s
deadline to ensure the money was recouped in full. The table below lists the ten Dublin City 2021
applications and the sums awarded.

Page 4

Name

Stream

Clontarf
1
Graveyard and
Church
Donnybrook
1
Graveyard
St
Nicholas 2
Within
Merrion
(Bellevue)
Cemetery
Bluebell
Cemetery

2

St Canice’s
Graveyard

2

Jewish
Cemetery,
Ballybough
Huguenot
Cemetery,
Merrion Row
Cabbage
Garden

3

Drimnagh
Castle

1

2

3

3

Outcome

Applicant Award

Reference

Conservation
works to the
church ruins
Conservation of
the
Boundary
wall
Conservation
Management
Plan (report)
Conservation
Management
Plan (report)
Conservation
Management
Plan (report)
Conservation
Management
Plan (report)
Interpretation
Strategy
&
Audio-Guide
Interpretation
Strategy & AudioGuide
Interpretation
Strategy & AudioGuide
Conservation
works

DCC Parks

€70,000.00 CMF21-1DC002

DCC Parks

€70,000.00 CMF21-1DC004

DCC Parks

€20,000.00 CMF21-2DC001

DCC Parks

€11,070.00 CMF21-2DC003

DCC Parks

€11,070.00 CMF21-2DC001

DCC
ACH/Parks

€29,520.00 CMF21-2DC002

DCC Parks

€20,000.00 CMF21-3DC003

DCC Parks

€17,484.50 CMF21-3DC001

DCC Parks

€17,484.50 CMF21-3DC002

Drimnagh
Castle

€43,308

CMF21-1DC003

2022 Applications
On 19 April, the Minister of State for Heritage and Electoral Reform announced the award of grants
for a wide range of archaeological heritage projects under the department’s 2022 Community
Monuments Fund. Building on the impact of the scheme last year under which 139 awards were
granted to an amount of just under €4.2 million, this year 128 projects are being supported with an
overall investment of €6 million. Dublin City Council proposed ten applications for projects in 2022,
seeking a total of €500,000. A total of €145,000 was sought by private owner applicants. Five projects
were awarded an offer of monies totalling €240,762.50. Successful projects include three privately
owned sites at St Audoen’s Church (Stream 1 – Works), Christ Church Cathedral and Drimnagh Castle
(Stream 2 – Conservation Management Plans). Two Dublin City Council led projects were awarded
monies. These are St Canice’s Graveyard, Finglas (Stream 1 - Works) and St James’s Graveyard (Stream
3 – Access and Interpretation). The table below lists the ten 2022 applications and sums awarded.

Page 5

Site

Stream Outcome Applicant Award

St Audoen’s
Medieval
Church
Clontarf
Graveyard

1

Works

Church of
Ireland

€85,000.00 CMF22-1DC004

1

DCC Parks

€0

St Canice’s
Graveyard
Finglas
Church of St
Nicholas
Within
Christchurch
Cathedral

1

Conservation
Management
Plan s
Works

DCC Parks

€85,000.00 CMF22-1DC001

1

Works

DCC Parks

€0

2

Church of
Ireland

€30,000.00 CMF22-2DC001

Drimnagh
Castle

2

Drimnagh
Castle

€30,000.00 CMF22-2DC002

Clontarf
Graveyard

2

DCC Parks

€0

_

St
Werburgh’s
Graveyard
St James’s
Church and
Graveyard
St Assam’s
Graveyard
Raheny

2

Conservation
Management
Plan
Conservation
Management
Plan
Conservation
Management
Plan
Conservation
Management
Plan
Interpretative
Audio Guide

DCC

€0

_

DCC Parks

€10,762.50 CMF22-3DC001

Community
Project

DCC Area
Office

€0

3

3

Reference

_

_

_

Successful CMF Projects 2022
St Audoen’s Church Works
St Audoen’s Church is the only medieval parish church in Dublin still in use. As a National Monument
it makes an exceptional contribution to our built heritage, boasting many layers of antiquity including
a 15th tomb and 17th century memorials. The grant award is for emergency conservation works to
the unstable west gable of the Church. Proposed works include structural repair to existing facing
stone where modern repairs do not tie into the wall core, replacing or refacing decayed stone,
replacing inappropriate materials from 20th century repairs, raking out cementitious pointing and
repointing with lime mortar.

Page 6

Christ Church Cathedral Conservation Management Plan
Christ Church Cathedral is the oldest surviving building in Dublin that is still in use and is one of its
most iconic landmarks. The nave has been described as ‘the most accomplished piece of Gothic
architecture in Ireland’ and the cathedral retains a wealth of architectural details as well as collections
and archives. The year 2028 will mark the 1000th anniversary of the foundation of the cathedral by
King Sitric of Dublin; the 900th anniversary of the birth of Archbishop Laurence O’Toole, patron of the
archdiocese of Dublin and the 150th anniversary of the completion of the cathedral’s complex
restoration by the architect George Edmund Street. It is timely and appropriate to take stock and
consider the cultural significance of the cathedral. In tandem it is necessary to identify threats to this
cultural significance and following consultation with stakeholders, formulate and adopt policies that
will ensure that its cultural significance is not diminished. The cathedral has brought together a team
of notable experts in their respective fields to contribute towards the preparation of the CMP. Many
of team have published important essays relating to the cathedral and the wider urban context of
Viking and Medieval Dublin. The preparation of a CMP will establish policies which will ensure that the
cathedral is cared for in a way that will ensure its significance is protected for future generations. The
CMP will inform how anniversaries in 2028 will be commemorated and it is hoped that it will lead to
further study and appraisal of the cathedral in both a national and international context.

Drimnagh Castle Conservation Management Plan
Drimnagh Castle is a free-standing three-storey castle with undercroft, Great Hall and gallery built in
a series of stages. It is one of very few medieval structures in Ireland to still retain an enclosing flooded
moat. Occupied until 1954, its current form results from multi-period construction, which began by
the acquisition of the lands by Hugh de Berneval in 1215. The castle has retained much of its important
architectural fabric and is a testament to the rural and historical past of this area. The conservation
plan will allow a thorough and detailed investigation of the site and document how the significance of
the building will be retained in the future, altered, developed, or repaired. The plan will follow
conservation principles and will be undertaken by a professional team comprised of a Grade 1
conservation architect, archaeologist, conservation engineer, Mechanical and Electrical engineer and
surveyor. The plan will set out a conservation strategy that will enable the Castle and its environs to
continue to be a place to visit in the future for those interested in the architectural and cultural
heritage of Ireland.

St James’s Church and Graveyard Interpretative Audio Guide
The medieval parish church of St James was built in 1190 and the graveyard is likely to be
contemporary, in use from the late 12th century onward. There is a 16th century gravestone in the
graveyard, which remained the principal burial ground for both religious affiliations down through the
centuries. The graveyard was one of the most commonly used by Catholics during Penal times and
burial records indicate that over 30,000 people of all religions were buried there during the period
1742-1836. In recent years Dublin City Council has invested in the conservation of the graveyard and
in building the resilience of its mortuary monuments to climate change. The site is currently
inaccessible to the public for safety reasons. The aim of this project is to raise awareness of an
important historic city site. The audio guide will enable visitors to the graveyard interested parties
anywhere in the world to learn more about the people buried there and the development of the
cemetery. The guide will enhance the knowledge of local people, many of whom have
Page 7

relatives/ancestors interred in the cemetery. Local community and stakeholders will be given the
opportunity to contribute to the audio-guide, to inspire more interest both in Dublin 8 and the wider
diaspora.

St Canice’s Graveyard Finglas Works (Implementation of CMP)
The ecclesiastical site of St Canice comprises a medieval church ruin, within a bell-shaped graveyard
surrounded by high walls and containing fine mortuary monuments. Its medieval high cross is the only
surviving example in Dublin City. The monument is of Regional and/or National significance and is of
great importance locally to the community in Finglas. This grant will fund urgent and essential works
to conserve the church, boundary walls and adjacent mortuary monuments, which are in poor
condition and at risk of further losses. The repairs will increase public access to the site and will
implement the action of the conservation management plan for the site enabling greater community
access.
The works proposed were identified as priority in the Community Monuments Fund grant-aided
Conservation Management Plan (CMP) for St. Canice’s Graveyard Finglas. The primary function of the
plan is to enable Dublin City Council to plan annual applications to the Community Monuments Fund
for carrying out essential conservation repair works to the site. The plan researches the history,
culture, and current condition of St Canice’s graveyard – its monuments and boundary wall. It assesses
the threats to its significance; outlines a conservation strategy and makes recommendations for
enhancement, improved management, and interpretation. It is drawn up in the context of proposals
to conserve the church, mortuary memorials, and for the long-term conservation of the medieval high
cross. Field surveys and community engagement activities were carried out in 2021. The St Canice’s
Conservation Management plan will be available online from May 2022. The plan makes a number of
recommendations for the site, several of which Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape Services are
currently addressing on a phased basis. The preparation and implementation of the plan by Parks
(CRES) is guided by a Grade 1 Conservation Architect and is delivered in partnership with the project
Steering Group. The steering group includes Parks, the Local Area Office, the Archaeology and
Conservation Section of the Planning & Economic Development Department. A conservation architect
led team has been commissioned by Parks to undertake the design of the conservation works.

Ruth Johnson, City Archaeologist, Wednesday, 20 April 2022

Page 8

An Roinn Pleanála agus Forbartha Maoine
Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8
Planning and Property Development Department
Block 4, Floor 3, Civic Offices, Wood Quay, D8

Planning and Urban Form
Strategic Policy Committee – May 2022
Housing Taskforce
No. 4 on the Agenda

Housing Taskforce Returns
Update
Q4 2021
This is a report on the purpose of the HTF, the data captured (and what is not
included) and trends up to the most recent quarter.

________________________________________
Page 9

John O’ Hara, City Planner, Dublin City Council
Purpose of Housing Returns
The Dublin Housing Supply Coordination Taskforce (DHSCT) data - of which
Dublin City Council contributes on a quarterly basis – is the primary ‘performance’
indicator available to actively assess the issue of housing supply across the Dublin
Region which includes the three other Dublin Region Local Authorities, namely Dun
Laoghaire Rathdown (DLR), Fingal County Council (FCC) & South Dublin County
Council (SDCC).

Brief Background
The Returns began as a result of Action 2 of Construction 2020, published May
2014, that committed to the establishment of a Housing Supply Coordination
Taskforce for Dublin. Accordingly, the Task Force was established in June 2014 with
the first quarterly reports commencing Q4 2015. The most recent Returns being
presented today are for Q4 2021, six years on from the commencement of this
Action.
Each local authority takes a turn as the co-ordinating authority to prepare the
combined returns to the Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage
with a quarterly report published. The data that is mapped (Tier 1 and Tier 2(a) sites,
explained below) is available to view on the Department’s website. No quarterly
report has issued from the Department since Q1 2021 owing to a variety of reasons
including Covid and that all four Dublin authorities are engaged with the development
plan process etc. Fingal County Council are the current co-ordinating authority.

What is Included?
The data utilised within the Housing Taskforce is focused on capturing developments
with planning permission for 10 or more residential units in the private sector
only. There is a further breakdown available of the residential unit into either a
house or apartment. Currently the number of bedrooms, per residential unit, is not
included in the Returns. The Returns do not include social housing or Approved
Housing Bodies’ (AHBs) proposals. Nor do the Returns identify the Part V element of
private housing for use as social housing.
Tier Classification
The data is classified within Tiers. There are three main tiers;
Tier 1 sites: Permissions granted (also known as extant permissions). These include
Strategic Housing Developments (SHD), but separated out as part of the Return.
Tier 2(a) sites: Planning Applications pending a final decision.
Page 10

Tier 2(b) sites: Pre App Consultations (PACs) - These PACS also include SHD
consultations
Tier 1 Key Performance Indicators
There are four key performance indicators used with Tier 1. These are:
1 - Number of sites with planning permission
2 - Number of residential units with planning permission
3 - Number of active sites (a subset of sites at 1 above)
4- Number of units under construction (on active sites at 3 above)
These four key performance indicators are used on a quarterly basis to compare
figures on a year on year basis. These comparisons are considered as a snap shot
in time. Each quarterly return contains all extant permissions at the time of
preparation not just permissions granted within the quarter.

Housing Task Force Returns for Q4 2021
Tier Classification Returns
The headline figures under the Tier classification for Q4 2021 (prepared January
2022) are as follows:
Tier 1 sites
There were permissions granted for 28,475 residential units (comprising 972 houses
and 27,503 apartments) on 207 sites across the city. These include SHD figures.
Tier 2(a) sites
There were 5,369 residential units pending decision (comprising 66 houses and
5,323 apartments) on 64 sites across the city awaiting a decision.
Tier 2(b) sites
There were 20,051 residential units at Pre-App Consultation stage on 98 sites across
the city under consultation.

Page 11

Tier 1 Key Performance Indicators based on a year on year assessment
For Q4 2021, the year on year assessment is based on rates between Q4 2020 and
Q4 2021 and records the following:

1. number of sites with planning permission
12% increase from 185 sites in Q4 2020 to 207 sites in Q4 2021.

2. number of units with planning permission
27% increase in the total from 22,370 units in Q4 2020 to 28,475 units in Q4
2021.

3. number of active sites
16% increase from 69 sites in Q4 2020 to 80 sites in Q4 2021.

4. number of units under construction
10% increase from 5,613 units in Q4 2020 to 6,174 units in Q4 2021.

Strategic Housing Developments (SHDs) Q4 2021
There are currently 45 no. SHDs providing 15,594 residential units, of which six were
granted this quarter, Q4 2021 from An Bord Pleanala. These include the following:
1. ABP 310860: Holy Cross College, D3/9: 1,592 residential units.
2. ABP 311333: Redcourt, Clontarf, D3: 131 residential units.
3. ABP 310944: Saint Columbans, Donaghmede, D. 13: 410 residential units.
4. ABP 310722: Former Premier Dairies Site, Finglas, D11: 191 residential units.
5. ABP 310567: Parkgate Street, D8: 198 residential units.
6. ABP 311302: Milltown Park, Sandford Road, D6: 667 residential units.
There were no new shared accommodation or student accommodation Strategic
Housing Developments recorded during this period.

Page 12

Conclusion
The Housing Returns:
•

provides real time data that indicates the status of supply and on site
activity within Dublin City

•

provide data that can be used as evidenced based information to inform
policy including the Core Strategy and HNDA model in the Draft Dublin
City Development Plan.

As of Q 4 2021, current indications are that all four key indicators are moving in the
right direction regarding supply of housing although the pace of activity needs to be
higher to meet demand.
John O’Hara
Dublin City Planning Officer.

Page 13

An Roinn Pleanála agus Forbartha Maoine
Oifigí na Cathrach, An Ché Adhmaid, Baile Átha Cliath 8
Planning and Property Development Department
Block 4, Floor 3, Civic Offices, Wood Quay, D8

Planning and Urban Form
Strategic Policy Committee – May 2022
Inchicore Retail Strategy
No. 5 on the Agenda

Key Urban Villages in the Draft Development Plan and the role of
Inchicore.

Report to Planning SPC

1. Introduction
Following the November special council meeting relating to the draft Dublin City
Development Plan a number of motions were referred to various SPCs as the issue
raised was not appropriate to the Draft plan process. One such motion related to the
role of Key Urban Villages and seeking the addition of Inchicore to those identified as
such in the Draft Plan.
The following motion (no.9) stated:
‘To recognise Inchicore as a Key Urban Village and include same in maps and
references’.
1
Page 14

Planning Reason :
‘Inchicore Village is a key artery into the city, but also a place where significant
development will occur throughout the course of this plan. The village should
be recognised as same and supported as such’.
In the Chief Executive's Response presented for consideration, the CE outlined that
the identification of Key Urban Villages is linked to the retail hierarchy contained in the
Regional Spatial Economic Strategy (RSES), which Dublin City Council must comply
with. Key Urban Villages equate to level 3 of the retail hierarchy in the RSES; and
Inchicore is not included in this level.
The recommendation was that the motion is not agreed and at the November meeting
the motion was withdrawn with the agreement that a request be made to the
Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage and the Eastern and Midland
Regional Authority to undertake a review of the Greater Dublin Retail Strategy.

2. Retail Planning Guidelines for Planning Authorities (2012)
The above Guidelines are the relevant reference document for the retail aspects of
City, County, Local and Regional plans. The Guidelines state the importance of
managing the development of retail; utilising hierarchies of towns/villages plus the
careful application of caps on volume of retail to ensure that the retail is plan-led,
sustainable and supports balanced town focussed regeneration without resulting in
decline, blight and dereliction as retail consumption shifts to newer developed centres.
The Guidelines recommend a multi-Authority approach to retail strategies and
reference the Greater Dublin Area.

3. Retail Strategy for the Greater Dublin Area (2008-2016)
This Strategy, the second retail strategy prepared for the Greater Dublin Area (GDA,
Dublin, Meath, Kildare and Wicklow); was jointly prepared by the seven Local
Authorities and two Regional Authorities in place at the time (Dublin and Mid-East). It
undertook a detailed analysis of retail spend in the GDA in relation to convenience
and comparison shopping addressing levels of spending, locations, population
catchments, and existing and planned retail provision. Following this analysis it set out
a series of policy recommendations regarding future retail provision and a retail
hierarchy for the GDA. This document was prepared prior to large-scale online
shopping and using figures from the 2006 Census and financial figures prior to the
economic crisis and for these reasons the volume of retail anticipated is now
overscaled.

4. Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy (RSES)
The Regional Spatial and Economic Strategy for the Eastern and Midlands Regional
Assembly (RSES) is the regional statutory planning context for the City Development
2
Page 15

Plan. The retail strategy of the City Council; contained in the Development Plan, must
be in keeping with to the retail strategy and hierarchy as contained in the RSES. Table
6.1 of the RSES sets out the retail hierarchy for the Region; defined into 5 pyramidal
levels. Dublin City Centre is solely designated as Level 1 – Metropolitan Centre. The
main county towns are level 2- Major Town Centres & County (Principal) Towns; which
includes for example Naas, Swords and Tullamore. Level 3 is also defined, and for
each Council a list of Level 3 -Town and District Centres and Sub-County Towns is
defined. For Level 4 (Neighbourhood centres, Local Centres, Small Towns and
Villages) and level 5 (Corner shops/Small Villages), it is the role of the relevant
development plans to designate the role of each place as part of their retail strategy.
Objective RPO 6.10 of the RSES also states that EMRA will support the preparation
of a Retail Strategy/Strategies for the Region in accordance with the Retail Planning
Guidelines for Planning Authorities 2021, or any subsequent update, to update the
retail hierarchy and apply floorspace requirements for the Region. RPO 6.11 states
that the retail hierarchy as defined in the RSES and based on the 2008 Strategy will
be applied as until it is updated.
Key Urban Villages are defined by the RSES and the Retail Strategy (2008) as large
scale centres of retail; offering at least one large supermarket of scale and a range of
local retail and other services (such as banking); with a catchment of approximately
30-40,000 people.

5. Draft Dublin City Development Plan
The main aim of the Retail Strategy for Dublin City is to take a balanced and
sustainable approach to the provision of retail in the City. It aims to continue to support
the city centre retail sector as the prime retail location in the State. It also aims to
promote and consolidate the role of the Key Urban Villages with an appropriate level
of retail development and support the concept of a 15 minute city with a network of
urban villages (both level 3 and level 4) providing a range of services locally to work
and home.
Chapter 4 of the draft Plan deals with the approach to the inner suburbs and outer city
and states:
‘Over the next plan period, the strategic approach is also to strengthen the
hierarchy of urban villages in the inner suburbs and outer city and consolidate
and develop them as key focal points for the communities that they serve. The
urban centres can provide opportunities for good urban placemaking, are
centres for local services and form a basis for sustainable city living. 12 Key
Urban Villages (KUVs) have been identified in the city suburbs (refer to Chapter
7: The City Centre, Urban Villages and Retail and Appendix 2: Retail Strategy).
It is envisaged that these will be strong spatial hubs and provide a range of
retail, commercial, employment, community and other services. Urban villages
will play a key role in developing the concept of a 15 minute city..
…Urban villages and smaller neighbourhood centres will also play a central role
in developing the concept of a 15-minute city. This means people’s daily
requirements can be reached within 15 minutes by foot, bike or public transport.
3
Page 16

The plan aims to continue to consolidate and environmentally upgrade these
local centres’.
The retail strategy and designation of urban villages within the hierarchy in the Draft
Plan is an accordance with the RSES hierarchy. In the City retail strategy, the Draft
Plan describes the scale and role of each level of the hierarchy. (See Table 2, page
181 of Volume 2: Appendices).
A key issue for retail designations is the need for balance in the provision of retail and
growth of retail development. There is a limit overall in the volume of retail and service
spending available within the city region. This “pool” of demand can increase through
population growth; supporting new retail development and new designations; but is
can also fall; as has happened with the accelerated shift to online retail and service
use. It is critical that each position of the hierarchy is scaled appropriately to avoid
competition between proximate locations. Too many designated locations in the
higher tiers will result in other high ranked locations losing their catchment and falling
into decline and/or negate regeneration plans for such locations in need of investment.
Such decline can result in serious loss of services and local retail to parts of the city;
undermining a sustainable approach to planning and the 15 minute city concept.
Key urban villages are larger scale centres of retail and other services in the City.
Decisions on designation of locations needs to be informed by an assessment of
catchment of existing centres; scale of demand in the area; future demand and future
growth areas and the volume of demand likely; all recognising the inter-related nature
of these issues and preferably undertaken at a city region scale to recognise that retail
and service catchments extend cross Council boundaries.
Inchicore has potential for growth as an urban village, with locational advantages
(Luas and bus connections, proximity to Grand Canal, Lansdowne Valley Park, Irish
National War Memorial Garden), imminent significant public investment in housing and
infrastructure (Emmet Road regeneration project and Bus Connects) as well as a
development strategy identify key projects that will enhance and strengthen the
function of the Kilmainham Inchicore area (Kilmainham Inchicore Development
Strategy). This is reflected in objective CSO13 of the draft plan which is ‘To seek
funding under Call 3 of the URDF for the planning, detailed design and construction of
the Kilmainham and Inchicore Development Strategy projects’. A change from an
urban village to a key urban village will not prevent needed investment and growth in
Inchicore.
A decision as to whether the catchment of Inchicore is or will be large enough to justify
changing the village from level 4 to level 3 needs to be carefully made; as a significant
expansion of the retail offer in Inchicore could take from the catchment of the adjoining
Key Urban Villages at Ballyfermot, Crumlin and (future planned) Naas Road. District
Centres/Key Urban Villages are also significant hubs where higher density mixed use
development; including residential use, will be promoted.

4
Page 17

6. Review of the Greater Dublin Area (GDA) Retail Strategy

It is acknowledged in the RSES that the Retail Strategy for the Greater Dublin Area is
dated and in need of review with section 6.5 stating:
‘It is recognised that the floorspace thresholds detailed in the GDA strategy
were prepared in a different economic climate and in many cases are still to be
reached. In this regard, EMRA will support and drive the preparation of a new
retail strategy for the Region under the requirements of the Retail Planning
Guidelines for Planning Authorities 2012, or any subsequent update, to update
this hierarchy and apply floorspace requirements for the Region.’

A decision on preparing a retail strategy for the GDA is a collective one, requiring
agreement from all relevant local authorities to work with the Regional Assembly and
the Department to prepare a new Strategy. Where such agreement is given it is the
role of the Regional Assembly to work with the Councils and the Department to begin
the process of updating the Retail Strategy for the Greater Dublin Area. Such a review
will enable a full review of changes in retail patterns, changed populations, new growth
areas and a more tailored approach to the City’s retail and settlement strategy can be
shaped. As part of this analysis, the role of Inchicore and all other urban villages at
both level 3 and level 4 can be fully reviewed.
Draft letters to both the RSES and the Department are included in the Appendix to this
report.

Deirdre Scully,
Deputy City Planner.

5
Page 18

Appendix – Proposed letters to the Department of Housing, Local Government
and Heritage and the Eastern and Midlands Regional Assembly

Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage,
Custom House,
Dublin 1
D01W6XO

To whom it concerns,
The retail strategy of the Dublin City Development Plan is highly dependent upon the
2008 Retail Strategy for the Greater Dublin Area, a document that is in need of review.
During the draft Development Plan process for the new City Development Plan, this
need has become clear.
Section 7.5.1 of the draft City Development Plan states:
The Retail Planning Guidelines, 2012 set out the retail planning framework for retail
development. In accordance with these guidelines, retail policy for the city must be
informed by a multi-authority retail strategy which would set out the retail hierarchy for
the region and which would set out retail floorspace requirements for different
settlements under the hierarchy. The existing 2008 – 2016 Retail Strategy for the
Greater Dublin Area is considered out of date and a new multi-authority strategy for
the region is required.
In the interim, the Regional Spatial Economic Strategy (RSES), for the Eastern and
Midland Regional Assembly, 2019 sets out a retail hierarchy for the Eastern and
Midland Region and it states that it will support and drive the preparation of a new
retail strategy for the region.

It has been acknowledged at Regional Assembly and local authority level that the
Strategy is not up to date having regard to the changes in retail profile, floorspace
demand, the implementation of the NPF through designation of new growth locations;
the emphasis on regeneration and brownfield. The following Regional Policy
Objectives are included in the RSES:
RPO 6.10: EMRA will support the preparation of a Retail Strategy / Strategies for the
Region in accordance with the Retail Planning Guidelines for Planning Authorities
2012, or any subsequent update, to update the retail hierarchy and apply floorspace
requirements for the Region.
In accordance with the above Regional Policy Objectives, the City Council requests
that Department support and encourage the undertaking of a review of the Retail
Strategy for the Greater Dublin Area.
6
Page 19

Eastern and Midland Regional Assembly,
3rd Floor North
Ballymun Civic Centre,
Dublin 09
D09C8P5

To whom it concerns,
The retail strategy of the Dublin City Development Plan is highly dependent upon the
2008 Retail Strategy for the Greater Dublin Area, a document that is in need of review.
During the draft Development Plan process for the new City Development Plan, this
need has become clear.
Section 7.5.1 of the draft City Development Plan states:
The Retail Planning Guidelines, 2012 set out the retail planning framework for retail
development. In accordance with these guidelines, retail policy for the city must be
informed by a multi-authority retail strategy which would set out the retail hierarchy for
the region and which would set out retail floorspace requirements for different
settlements under the hierarchy. The existing 2008 – 2016 Retail Strategy for the
Greater Dublin Area is considered out of date and a new multi-authority strategy for
the region is required.
In the interim, the Regional Spatial Economic Strategy (RSES), for the Eastern and
Midland Regional Assembly, 2019 sets out a retail hierarchy for the Eastern and
Midland Region and it states that it will support and drive the preparation of a new
retail strategy for the region.

It has been acknowledged at Regional Assembly and local authority level that the
Strategy is not up to date having regard to the changes in retail profile, floorspace
demand, the implementation of the NPF through designation of new growth locations;
7
Page 20

the emphasis on regeneration and brownfield.
Objectives are included in the RSES:

The following Regional Policy

RPO 6.10: EMRA will support the preparation of a Retail Strategy / Strategies for the
Region in accordance with the Retail Planning Guidelines for Planning Authorities
2012, or any subsequent update, to update the retail hierarchy and apply floorspace
requirements for the Region.
In accordance with the above Regional Policy Objectives, the City Council requests
that the Regional Assembly take the lead in seeking agreement to commence a review
and take the role of co-ordinating the review of the Retail Strategy for the Greater
Dublin Area.

Deirdre Scully
Deputy City Planner

8
Page 21

